O© o0 NI N n B~ W =

N NN NN N N N N /= e e e e e ek e
o 9 N nm kA WD = DO O NN R WD = O

TIM REAM, CA BAR #283971
Center for Biological Diversity
351 California Street, Suite 600
San Francisco, CA 94104

(415) 632-5315
tream(@biologicaldiversity.org

SUSAN JANE BROWN, OSB #054607, applicant pro hac vice
JOHN MELLGREN, OSB # 114620, applicant pro hac vice
Western Environmental Law Center

1216 Lincoln Street

Eugene, OR 97401

(541) 485-2471

brown@westernlaw.org

mellgren@westernlaw.org

PAUL KAMPMEIER, WSBA #31560, applicant pro hac vice
WYATT GOLDING, WSBA #44412, applicant pro hac vice
Washington Forest Law Center

615 Second Avenue, Suite 360

Seattle, WA 98104

(206) 223-4088

pkampmeier@wflc.org

wgolding@wflc.org

Attorneys for Plaintiffs
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA
SAN FRANCISCO DIVISION

KLAMATH-SISKIYOU WILDLANDS CENTER, )
CENTER FOR BIOLOGICAL DIVERSITY, and ) Civ. No.

KLAMATH FOREST ALLIANCE, nonprofit
corporations,
o COMPLAINT FOR
Plaintiffs, DECLARATORY AND
INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

V.

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEDURE
ACT CASE

)
)
)
)
)
)
NATIONAL OCEANIC AND ATMOSPHERIC )
ADMINISTRATION NATIONAL MARINE )
FISHERIES SERVICE and UNITED STATES )
FISH AND WILDLIFE SERVICE, ;
)

Defendants.

COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY
AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF - 1



mailto:brown@westernlaw.org
mailto:pkampmeier@wflc.org

O© o0 NI N n B~ W =

N NN NN N N N N /= e e e e e ek e
o 9 N nm kA WD = DO O NN R WD = O

L. INTRODUCTION

l. This is an action against the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration
National Marine Fisheries Service, a federal agency within the United States Department of
Commerce, and the United States Fish and Wildlife Service, a federal agency within the United
States Department of the Interior (collectively “the Services™). Plaintiffs allege the Services
violated the Administrative Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. § 551 et seq. (“APA”), the Endangered
Species Act, 16 U.S.C. § 1531 et seq. (“ESA”), and the National Environmental Policy Act, 42
U.S.C. § 4321 et seq. (“NEPA”) in issuing incidental take permits to the Fruit Growers Supply
Company.

2. Because logging operations can injure or kill northern spotted owls and Southern
Oregon/Northern California Coast coho salmon, actions the Endangered Species Act prohibits,
the Fruit Growers Supply Company (“Fruit Growers” or “FGS”) developed and obtained federal
approval for a habitat conservation plan. See 16 U.S.C. §§ 1538(a), 1539(a). The Fruit Growers
Supply Company Multi-Species Habitat Conservation Plan (“the HCP”) is a comprehensive
forest management plan that covers approximately 152,000 acres of Fruit Growers’ forestland in
Siskiyou County, California and includes management strategies for both aquatic and terrestrial
species affected by logging. After approving the HCP, the United States Fish and Wildlife
Service (“FWS”) and the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration National Marine
Fisheries Service (“NMFS”) issued Fruit Growers permits authorizing the incidental take of coho
salmon and northern spotted owls that will occur as the result of logging in accordance with the
HCP.

3. Plaintiffs bring this lawsuit because although the logging and harm to listed
species is certain to occur, the claimed benefits of the HCP are speculative, not certain to occur,
and not certain to avoid jeopardy to listed species, as required by the ESA. There are numerous
problems with the Services’ approval of the permits, but two examples highlight plaintiffs’ core
concerns.

4. In issuing incidental take permit coverage for northern spotted owls, the FWS

relied on the speculative future action of the United States Forest Service (“Forest Service”)
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when calculating and weighing the HCP’s supposed conservation benefits for northern spotted
owls. The HCP’s northern spotted owl conservation strategy requires Fruit Growers to limit
timber harvesting operations on certain FGS lands that are close to Forest Service lands with
northern spotted owls. The FWS assumed that the Forest Service will never log in those areas
and that by preserving spotted owl habitat on nearby FGS lands the HCP will contribute to
preservation of the northern spotted owls living in the nearby national forest. But the Forest
Service is not a party to the HCP and is not bound by it or Fruit Growers’ incidental take permits.
There is no basis for concluding that the Forest Service will protect those spotted owl sites
throughout the term of Fruit Growers’ incidental take permit—for the next 50 years or more.
The FWS’s conclusion that the HCP will benefit northern spotted owls is fundamentally flawed
because it improperly relied on the speculative future action of the Forest Service when
calculating and weighing the HCP’s supposed conservation benefits.

5. NMFS made a similar mistake in issuing Fruit Growers incidental take permit
coverage for Southern Oregon/Northern California Coast coho salmon. NMFS relied on Fruit
Growers’ promise to reduce the potential for sediment delivery to streams from logging roads by
fifty percent within fifteen years of issuance of the permit. But because neither Fruit Growers
nor NMFS know how much sediment is being discharged now, or the extent of harm that
sediment is causing to coho salmon, the Services can have no idea how much damage will be
done to coho during the intervening fifteen years nor can they know whether reducing the
potential for sediment delivery by fifty percent will avoid jeopardy to those fish. NMFS’
conclusion that the HCP will avoid jeopardy to coho salmon is fundamentally flawed because it
has no ascertainable basis in fact.

6. For these and other reasons, plaintiffs seek declaratory and injunctive relief to
redress the injuries caused by the alleged violations of law.

7. Should Plaintiffs prevail, Plaintiffs will seek an award of costs and attorneys’ fees
as authorized by the ESA, 16 U.S.C. § 1540(g), and the Equal Access to Justice Act, 28 U.S.C. §
2412.
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II. JURISDICTION

8. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1331 (federal question) and 16
U.S.C. §1540(g) (ESA citizen suit provision).

0. Plaintiffs have satisfied the jurisdictional requirements for bringing their ESA
citizen-suit claims. As required by 16 U.S.C. § 1540(g), by certified letter dated and postmarked
April 19, 2013, plaintiffs notified the Secretary of the Interior, the Secretary of Commerce, the
Director of the FWS, and the Administrator of the National Oceanic and Atmospheric
Administration (“NOAA”) of alleged ESA violations committed by FWS and NMFS and of
plaintiffs’ intent to sue for those violations (hereinafter “Notice Letter”). A copy of the Notice
Letter is attached to this complaint as Exhibit 1.

10.  More than sixty days have passed since the Notice Letter was served. The
Secretary of the Interior received a copy of the Notice Letter on April 24, 2013. The Secretary of]
Commerce received a copy of the Notice Letter on April 24, 2013. FWS received a copy of the
Notice Letter on April 25, 2013. NOAA received a copy of the Notice Letter on April 23, 2013.
The violations complained of in the Notice Letter are continuing or reasonably likely to continue
to occur.

11.  Neither the Secretary of the Interior nor the Secretary of Commerce has
commenced an action to impose a penalty, pursuant to 16 U.S.C. §1540(a), for the ESA
violations alleged herein. The United States has not taken any action to redress the ESA
violations alleged in this lawsuit.

12. This Court has the authority to grant the relief requested pursuant to 16 U.S.C. §
1540(g) (ESA); 5 U.S.C. §§ 701-06 (APA); 28 U.S.C. § 2201 (declaratory relief); 28 U.S.C. §
2202 (injunctive relief); and 28 U.S.C. § 2412 (Equal Access to Justice Act).

III. INTRADISTRICT ASSIGNMENT

13.  Venue is proper in this judicial district under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(1)(B) and 16
U.S.C. § 1540(g)(3)(A). NMFS personnel in the Arcata, California office developed or helped to
develop the HCP, one of the biological opinions, the implementation agreement, one of the

incidental take permits, and the environmental impact statement that are the subject of this

COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY
AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF - 4




O© o0 NI N n B~ W =

N NN NN N N N N /= e e e e e ek e
o 9 N nm kA WD = DO O NN R WD = O

lawsuit. Venue is also proper in this Court under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(e) because plaintiffs Center
for Biological Diversity and Klamath Forest Alliance have their principal place of business in
this district and there is no real property involved in this action.

IV.  PARTIES

14.  Plaintiff KLAMATH-SISKIYOU WILDLANDS CENTER (“KS Wild”) is suing
on behalf of itself and its members. KS Wild is a domestic non-profit corporation organized and
existing under the laws of the State of Oregon. KS Wild’s main offices are in Ashland, Oregon.
KS Wild has 3,500 members in over 10 states, with most members concentrated in southern
Oregon and northern California. On behalf of its members, KS Wild advocates for the forests,
wildlife, and waters of the Rogue and Klamath Basins and works to protect and restore the
extraordinary biological diversity of the Klamath-Siskiyou region of southwest Oregon and
northwest California. KS Wild uses environmental law, science, education, and collaboration to
help build healthy ecosystems and sustainable communities. Through its campaign work, KS
Wild strives to protect the last wild areas and vital biological diversity of the Klamath region.
KS Wild is a leader in protection of California’s national forests and routinely participates in
commenting, monitoring, and litigation affecting public lands in California. KS Wild also has an
extensive history of advocacy relating to private industrial timber harvest in Oregon and
California, including on lands owned by Fruit Growers Supply Company. KS Wild is a
membership organization and has members who are injured by defendants’ violations.

15. Plaintiff CENTER FOR BIOLOGICAL DIVERSITY (“Center”) is suing on
behalf of itself and its members. The Center is a California nonprofit public benefit corporation
with more than 48,000 members dedicated to the preservation, protection, and restoration of
biodiversity and ecosystems in northern California and throughout the world. On behalf of its
members, the Center works to insure the long-term health and viability of animal and plant
species and to protect the habitat those species need to survive. The Center also has a procedural
interest in the proper management of these lands in full compliance with mandatory public land
and environmental laws and regulations. The Center is a membership organization and has

members who are injured by defendants’ violations.
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16. Plaintiff KLAMATH FOREST ALLIANCE (“KFA?”) is suing on behalf of itself
and its approximately 300 members and supporters who reside in northern California. KFA is a
California corporation and a non-profit, grassroots organization based in the center of the
Klamath-Siskiyou bioregion in Orleans, California. On behalf of itself and its supporters, KFA
promotes sustainable ecosystems and sustainable communities with the goal of defending and
protecting the biodiversity, wildlife, waters and old growth forests in Klamath-Siskiyou
bioregion. Since 1989, KFA has a history of vigilance in seeing that management agencies
adhere to laws that safeguard the outstanding values of public and private lands, while working
in collaboration with local federal land managers, Native Tribes, regional allies, and local
communities. KFA has members who are injured by defendants’ violations.

17.  Plaintiffs have standing to bring this lawsuit. Plaintiffs are organizations whose
purposes are dedicated to the protection and enjoyment of forests, birds, fish, and their natural
habitats. Plaintiffs’ members use national forest lands in the immediate vicinity of the area
subject to the HCP, waters that flow through and downstream of FGS lands, and Fruit Growers’
lands where Fruit Growers allows public access, for a variety of pursuits including birding,
hiking, observing wildlife, backpacking, botanizing, canoeing, fishing, photography, and other
personal and professional activities. Plaintiffs and their members intend to continue all of these
activities in the future. Logging and related activities under the HCP will adversely impact
plaintiffs’ and their members’ ability to pursue and enjoy those activities. The aesthetic,
recreational, scientific, educational, and other interests of plaintiffs and their members have been,|
and will continue to be, adversely affected by the defendants’ violations of the ESA, APA, and
NEPA. The relief sought in this lawsuit can redress the injuries to plaintiffs’ and their members’
interests.

18.  Defendant NATIONAL OCEANIC AND ATMOSPHERIC ADMINISTRATION
NATIONAL MARINE FISHERIES SERVICE is an agency within the U.S. Department of
Commerce and a subdivision of the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration. NMFS
is responsible for administering the ESA as it applies to threatened and endangered ocean-going

aquatic species, including Southern Oregon/Northern California Coast coho salmon. NMFS
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personnel in the Arcata, California office developed or helped to develop the HCP, one of the
biological opinions, the implementation agreement, one of the incidental take permits, and the
environmental impact statement that are the subject of this lawsuit.

19.  Defendant UNITED STATES FISH AND WILDLIFE SERVICE (“FWS”) is an
agency within the U.S. Department of the Interior and is responsible for administering the ESA
as it applies to threatened and endangered terrestrial species, including northern spotted owls.
FWS personnel in the Yreka, California office developed or helped to develop the HCP, one of
the biological opinions, the implementation agreement, one of the incidental take permits, and
the environmental impact statement that are the subject of this lawsuit.

20.  NMFS and FWS are agencies within the meaning of the Administrative Procedure
Act, 5 U.S.C. § 551 et seq.

V. LEGAL BACKGROUND

A. The Endangered Species Act.

21. Congress enacted the Endangered Species Act “to provide a means whereby the
ecosystems upon which endangered species and threatened species depend may be conserved ...
[and] to provide a program for the conservation of such endangered species and threatened
species....” 16 U.S.C. § 1531(b). Before a species receives protection under the ESA, the
Services must list the species as either “threatened” or “endangered.” 16 U.S.C. § 1533(a) & (¢).
A “threatened species” is one that is “likely to become an endangered species within the
foreseeable future through all or a significant portion of its range.” 16 U.S.C. § 1532(20).

22. Section 9 of the ESA makes it unlawful for any person to “take” an endangered
species of fish or wildlife. 16 U.S.C. § 1538(a)(1)(B). Regulations adopted by the Services
apply the ESA’s take prohibition to threatened species, including northern spotted owls and
Southern Oregon/Northern California Coast coho salmon. 50 C.F.R. § 17.31; 50 C.F.R. §
222.301(b). The term “take” is defined broadly as “to harass, harm, pursue, hunt, shoot, wound,
kill, trap, capture, or collect, or to attempt to engage in any such conduct.” 16 U.S.C. §
1532(19). The Services’ regulations define “harm” to include “significant habitat modification

or degradation where it actually kills or injures wildlife by significantly impairing essential

COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY
AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF - 7




O© o0 NI N n B~ W =

N NN NN N N N N /= e e e e e ek e
o 9 N nm kA WD = DO O NN R WD = O

behavioral patterns, including breeding, feeding or sheltering.” 50 C.F.R. § 17.3; 50 C.F.R. §
222.102.

23. All “persons,” including any “corporation, partnership, trust, association, or any
other private entity” are subject to the ESA’s take prohibition. 16 U.S.C. § 1532(13).

24. Section 10 of the ESA creates a limited exception to the ESA’s take prohibition
by authorizing the Services to permit the take of listed species that incidentally results from
otherwise lawful activities. 16 U.S.C. § 1539(a)(1)(B). A permit issued pursuant to ESA section
10(a)(1)(B) is referred to as an “incidental take permit.”

25. To obtain an incidental take permit, an applicant must submit to NMFS or the
FWS a habitat conservation plan that specifies the impacts that will likely result from the
expected taking; the steps the applicant will take to minimize and mitigate such impacts; a
description of what alternative actions to such taking the applicant considered; and the reasons
why such alternatives are not being utilized. 16 U.S.C. § 1539(a)(2)(A).

26. The ESA requires the Services to provide the public with an opportunity to
comment on an applicant’s habitat conservation plan and application materials before the
Services issue an incidental take permit. 16 U.S.C. §§ 1539(a)(2)(B), (c).

27.  Before issuing an incidental take permit, the Services must find among other
things that the expected taking will be incidental; that the applicant will, to the maximum extent
practicable, minimize and mitigate the impacts of such taking; that the applicant has assured
adequate funding for its HCP; and that the taking will not appreciably reduce the likelihood of
the survival and recovery of listed species in the wild. 16 U.S.C. § 1539(a)(2)(B).

28.  Before issuing an incidental take permit the Services must also initiate and
complete consultation under ESA section 7. ESA Section 7 requires federal agencies to evaluate
expected impacts to listed species and designated critical habitat before authorizing, funding, or
taking any discretionary action. 16 U.S.C. § 1536(a)(2). For terrestrial species such as northern
spotted owls, the ESA requires federal agencies to consult with the FWS. For marine or
oceangoing species such as Southern Oregon/Northern California Coast coho salmon, the ESA

requires federal agencies to consult with NMFS.
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29.  When a proposed agency action is likely to adversely affect a listed species, FWS
or NMFS must prepare a biological opinion. Biological opinions must be based on the best
available science and must analyze whether the proposed agency action is likely to jeopardize
any listed species or adversely modify any designated critical habitat. 16 U.S.C. § 1536(a)(2). If]
a proposed agency action will jeopardize a listed species or adversely modify designated critical
habitat, NMFS or FWS must suggest reasonable and prudent alternatives that will avoid jeopardy
and adverse modification of designated critical habitat. 16 U.S.C. § 1536(b)(3)(A).

30. The Services must issue an incidental take statement to the action agency if after
consultation they conclude that the proposed action will result in take but is not likely to
jeopardize a listed species or adversely modify critical habitat. 16 U.S.C. § 1536(b)(4).
Incidental take statements authorize the incidental take of listed species that will occur as a result
of the action agency’s proposed action. They also limit the allowed level of incidental take and
impose terms and conditions on the proposed action. 16 U.S.C. § 1536(b)(4)(C)(iv). If, when
implemented, the action exceeds the level of authorized take, either the action agency or the
appropriate Service must reinitiate consultation under Section 7(a)(2) of the ESA. 50 C.F.R. §
402.16.

31.  Ifunlisted species will be covered by an incidental take permit in the event they
become listed, the Services must process the incidental take permit application as if the unlisted
species were currently listed.

32.  Anincidental take permit provides regulatory certainty to the holder of the permit.
Under the Services’ “No Surprises” policy, if circumstances change after issuance of an
incidental take permit the Services often may not require the commitment of additional resources
or management restrictions without the consent of the holder of the permit. 50 C.F.R. §
17.32(b)(5); 50 C.F.R. § 222.307(g).

B. The National Environmental Policy Act.

33. The National Environmental Policy Act is the Nation’s basic charter for the
protection of the environment. NEPA’s purposes are to “help public officials make decisions

that are based on [an] understanding of environmental consequences, and to take actions that
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protect, restore, and enhance the environment.” 40 C.F.R. § 1500.1(c).

34. To accomplish those purposes, NEPA requires all agencies of the federal
government to prepare an environmental impact statement (“EIS”) for all “major federal actions
significantly affecting the quality of the human environment.” 42 U.S.C. § 4332(C).

35. NEPA’s disclosure goals are two-fold: (1) to insure that the agency has carefully
and fully contemplated the environmental effects of its action; and (2) to insure that the public
has sufficient information to challenge the agency’s action.

36. The Council on Environmental Quality’s uniform regulations, which implement
NEPA and are binding on all federal agencies, state that “major federal actions” that require an
EIS include actions approved by permit. 40 C.F.R. § 1508.18(b)(4).

37.  An EIS must describe: (1) the environmental impact of the proposed action; (2)
any adverse environmental effects that cannot be avoided should the proposal be implemented;
(3) alternatives to the proposed action; (4) the relationship between local short-term uses of the
environment and the maintenance and enhancement of long-term productivity; and (5) any
irreversible or irretrievable commitment of resources that would be involved in the proposed
action should it be implemented. 42 U.S.C. § 4332.

38. An agency preparing a final EIS must assess and consider comments and must
respond to comments in the final environmental impact statement. 40 C.F.R. § 1503.4(a).

39. An EIS is a “detailed written statement” that “provide[s] full and fair discussion
of significant environmental impacts and shall inform decision makers and the public of the
reasonable alternatives which would avoid or minimize adverse impacts or enhance the quality
of the human environment.” 40 C.F.R. §§ 1508.11, 1502.1.

40. An EIS must consider both direct and indirect environmental impacts of the
proposed action. 40 C.F.R. § 1508.8. Direct effects are caused by the action and occur at the
same time and place as the proposed project. Id. § 1508.8(a). Indirect effects are caused by the
action and are later in time or farther removed in distance, but are still reasonably foreseeable.
Id. § 1508.8(b).

41.  NEPA also requires federal agencies to assess the cumulative environmental
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effects of proposed agency actions. 40 C.F.R. § 1508.7. Cumulative effects are defined as the
impact resulting from the incremental impact of the proposed action when added to other past,
present, and reasonably foreseeable future actions. Id. Cumulative impacts can result from
individually minor but collectively significant actions taking place over a period of time. Id.

42. Perhaps most importantly, agencies that prepare an EIS must take a hard look at
the impacts of the action and “ensure that environmental information is available to public
officials and citizens before decisions are made and before actions are taken.” 40 C.F.R. §
1500.1(b). The purpose of this requirement is to ensure that the public has the information it
needs to question and understand an agency’s decision before it is finalized.

VI. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

A. Fruit Growers’ Land and Logging Activities.

43.  Fruit Growers’ HCP applies to approximately 152,000 acres of Fruit Growers’
forest land in Siskiyou County, California. Much of Fruit Growers’ land in northern California
supports mid- to high-elevation mixed conifer forests, predominantly made up of Douglas fir,
white fir, and montane hardwood.

44.  Fruit Growers manages its land in northern California in three management units:
the Klamath River Management Unit in the Klamath River watershed; the Grass Lake
Management Unit in the Shasta River watershed; and the Scott Valley Management Unit in the
Scott River watershed. Fruit Growers’ lands in its Klamath River and Scott Valley Management
Units are in many locations adjacent to lands in the Klamath National Forest, which is managed
by the U.S. Forest Service, or to lands managed by the federal Bureau of Land Management.

45.  FGS harvests timber and conducts related operations on its lands in northern
California. Fruit Growers’ timber harvesting and related operations impact forest ecosystems
and the species that live there, including northern spotted owls, Southern Oregon/Northern
California Coast coho salmon, Yreka phlox, Upper Klamath and Trinity Rivers Chinook salmon,
and Klamath Mountains Province steelhead.

46.  FGS logging has eliminated most of the mature and old-growth forest stands on

its lands in northern California. Most of the remaining mature and old-growth forest on FGS
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lands in northern California is suitable northern spotted owl habitat. FGS cannot continue to log
mature and old-growth forests on its lands in northern California without an incidental take
permit because doing so would take northern spotted owls and Southern Oregon/Northern
California Coast coho salmon in violation of Section 9 of the ESA.

B. Northern Spotted Owls.

47.  In 1990, the FWS listed the northern spotted owl (Strix occidentalis caurina) as a
“threatened” species under the ESA. Determination of Threatened Status for the Northern
Spotted Owl, 55 Fed. Reg. 26,114 (June 26, 1990) (codified at 50 C.F.R. § 17.11(h)).

48. Northern spotted owls are dark to chestnut brown with round or oval white spots
and dark eyes. The average adult owl is about 18 inches tall, with a wing span of approximately
48 inches. They are endemic to the Pacific Northwest and can live up to 10 years in the wild.

49.  Northern spotted owls (“NSO”) occupy late-successional and old growth forests
from southern British Columbia through western Washington, Oregon, and northern California
as far south as Marin County.

50.  Northern spotted owls rely on older forests because they generally contain the
structures and characteristics required for their essential biological functions of nesting, roosting,
foraging, and dispersal. In general, northern spotted owls inhabit forests that contain a multi-
layered and multi-species tree canopy dominated by large overstory trees; moderate to high
canopy closure; a high incidence of trees with large cavities and other types of deformities;
numerous large snags; an abundance of large, dead wood on the ground; and open space within
and below the upper canopy for owls to fly. Forested stands with high canopy closure provide
thermal cover as well as protection from predation.

51. Northern spotted owls are site-tenacious and generally live their entire adult lives
in a home range territory. Within an owl’s home range, large amounts of forest habitat are
necessary to support an owl’s life needs. Northern spotted owls are generally intolerant of
habitat disturbances.

52. Loss of habitat has been a primary cause of the decline in northern spotted owl

populations. In its final listing rule, the FWS noted that the northern spotted owl is threatened
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throughout its range “...by the loss and adverse modification of suitable habitat as the result of
timber harvesting and exacerbated by catastrophic events such as fire, volcanic eruptions, and
wind storms.” 55 Fed. Reg. at 26,151.

53. Since the FWS listed the northern spotted owl as threatened in 1990, the amount
of suitable northern spotted habitat has continued to decline throughout the owl’s range, in part
because of logging on private lands in California. It is estimated that logging has eliminated 80-
85% of the old-growth forests in the Pacific Northwest. Studies indicate that northern spotted
owl populations have continued to decline since 1990.

54. Logging can adversely impact northern spotted owls by removing their habitat,
creating noise disturbance, increasing forest fragmentation, and altering landscape characteristics
to create habitat conditions that support barred owls. The destruction of northern spotted owl
habitat injures individual territorial owls by eliminating areas where they can nest, roost, forage,
and raise their young. Additionally, northern spotted owls that have to travel over large expanses|
of unsuitable habitat to forage are at a significantly higher risk of predation and starvation.

55.  The destruction of suitable owl habitat also makes it more difficult for dispersing
owls to establish new territories. Spatial separation between blocks of owl habitat makes it more
difficult for dispersing owls to find habitat in which they can establish a home range. And as
owl habitat becomes increasingly scarce, competition for the remaining habitat increases. Large-
scale destruction of spotted owl habitat disconnects spotted owl subpopulations and can cause
genetic bottlenecks that increase the likelihood that isolated subpopulations will be extirpated.
Large-scale habitat loss also exacerbates harm to northern spotted owls from other threats.

56.  Protecting and restoring sufficient habitat for northern spotted owls now and into
the future is essential to spotted owl recovery. The continued destruction of suitable spotted owl
habitat decreases the likelihood that the species will recover in the wild.

C. Southern Oregon/Northern California Coast coho salmon and other affected

salmonids.
57. In May 1997, NMFS listed the southern Oregon/northern California coast
evolutionarily significant unit of coho salmon (“SONCC coho salmon”) as threatened under the
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ESA. Endangered and Threatened Species; Threatened Status for Southern Oregon/Northern
California Coast Evolutionarily Significant Unit (ESU) of Coho Salmon, 62 Fed. Reg. 24588
(May 6, 1997).

58. SONCC coho salmon are anadromous. When adult SONCC coho salmon reach
sexual maturity, at around 3 years old, they migrate from saltwater into freshwater streams to
spawn before dying. To spawn, female salmon clear small circles of coarse gravel (known as
redds) in which they lay eggs. After being fertilized by male SONCC coho salmon, the eggs
incubate in redds over the winter. Salmon fry emerge from redds between February and mid-
May. Juvenile SONCC coho may spend 1 to 2 years rearing in freshwater or they may migrate
downstream to an estuary. Migration from streams to the estuary and ocean generally takes
place from March through May.

59. SONCC coho salmon spawn and rear in small, relatively low gradient streams and
headwater creeks. They require abundant, cool, well-oxygenated water that flows year-round
and contains little suspended sediment. Females lay eggs on gravel stream bottoms with
minimal deposited fine sediment because the spaces between pieces of stone allow oxygenated
water to sustain eggs and fry. The empty spaces in gravel substrate also support benthic
organisms, the primary food source of juvenile salmon.

60. Rearing juveniles require a complex stream morphology of pools, riffles, and
backwaters created by large downed trees in the stream channel. That habitat structure helps
protect juvenile SONCC coho salmon from predators and high water flows that can occur during
the winter.

61.  Pastlogging and logging-related activities have harmed SONCC coho salmon and
their habitat. NMFS described logging as one of the “major activities responsible for the decline
of coho salmon in Oregon and California.” 62 Fed. Reg. at 24592. The Federal Register notice
announcing the rule that listed SONCC coho salmon as a threatened species states: “Forestry has
degraded coho salmon habitat through removal and disturbance of natural vegetation,
disturbance and compaction of soils, construction of roads, and installation of culverts.” 62 Fed.

Reg. at 24593. Logging, timber hauling, and road maintenance and construction can adversely
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impact SONCC coho salmon by altering water quantity, water quality, stream velocity, and other
stream features that provide SONCC coho salmon habitat or support SONCC coho salmon
survival.

62. Sediment generated by logging activities is particularly harmful to SONCC coho
salmon and their habitat. In the western United States, logging roads are the primary source of
sediment delivered to streams from forestry activities. Logging roads generally use road grade,
ditches, channels, and culverts to move stormwater off the road. Stormwater associated with
logging roads often contains sediment. Landslides generated from improperly maintained
logging roads, and landslides caused by logging activities on steep and unstable slopes, also
deliver sediments to streams. Sediment delivered to fish-bearing streams can harm fish by
smothering salmonid eggs, reducing inter-gravel oxygen, increasing turbidity in the water
column, interfering with sight-feeding, burying macroinvertebrate insects and their habitat, and
aggrading streambeds throughout the stream network.

63. SONCC coho salmon habitat in the Klamath and Scott rivers is presently
degraded. Sediment levels in Klamath-area streams exceed levels that inhibit salmonid survival
and reproduction. The Klamath and Scott Rivers are listed as impaired for sediment under
Section 303(d) of the Clean Water Act. The State of California’s North Coast Regional Water
Control Board has indicated that sediment levels in the Scott River exceed those stated in the
Total Maximum Daily Load for that river.

64.  Klamath and Trinity Rivers Chinook salmon and Klamath Mountains Province
steelhead also inhabit streams in the Klamath region and also require cold, clean water for
migration, spawning, and juvenile rearing. But these two fish species are also different in
important ways from SONCC coho salmon. Adult Klamath and Trinity Rivers Chinook salmon
are particularly vulnerable to increased water temperatures because after returning to their natal
streams they spend a full summer in freshwater before spawning. Similarly, adult Klamath
Mountains Province steelhead are particularly vulnerable to degraded water quality in headwater
streams because they spawn farther upstream in drainages than coho salmon or Chinook salmon.

D. The Fruit Growers Supply Company’s Habitat Conservation Plan.
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65.  In November 2009 the Services announced that Fruit Growers had submitted a
draft HCP to FWS and NMFS for its logging and related activities on certain FGS lands in
northern California. Multi-species Habitat Conservation Plan, 74 Fed. Reg. 58602 (Nov. 13,
2009). Fruit Growers’ HCP was an application for permits that would authorize the incidental
take of northern spotted owls and SONCC coho salmon that occur as a result of Fruit Growers’
timber harvesting and related operations. Fruit Growers’ permit application also sought
incidental take permit coverage for Upper Klamath and Trinity Rivers Chinook salmon (O.
tshawytscha) and Klamath Mountains Province steelhead (O. mykiss), anticipating that those
species might also be listed as endangered or threatened in the next several decades.

66. The HCP allows FGS to log thousands of acres of mature and old-growth forest
that provide habitat for northern spotted owls and that Fruit Growers would not be allowed to log
without an incidental take permit.

1. The HCP’s Terrestrial Species Conservation Strategy.

67. Chapter 5.3 of the HCP includes a terrestrial species conservation strategy
(“TCS”) that includes provisions for northern spotted owls. Fruit Growers estimated that its
logging activities under the HCP could impact 82 different northern spotted owl site centers that
support approximately 158 northern spotted owls. The incidental take permit authorizes Fruit
Growers to take 83 northern spotted owls. Fruit Growers designed its TCS to help preserve 48
northern spotted owls.

68. The TCS is designed: (1) to provide demographic support to northern spotted
owls in accordance with the 2011 Revised Recovery Plan for the Northern Spotted Owl; (2) to
promote improved habitat conditions for the owl across the FGS ownership; (3) to avoid direct
take of owls through incidental take avoidance and minimization measures; and (4) to manage
known threats to northern spotted owls. On page 5-37, the HCP indicates that the measures in
the TCS “...reflect all the binding, enforceable commitments FGS will make to satisfy the
requirements of Section 10(a) of the Endangered Species Act” for northern spotted owls.

69. In an effort to provide demographic support to northern spotted owls, the TCS

establishes 24 Conservation Support Areas (“CSAs”) on Fruit Growers’ lands in northern
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California. The CSAs are designed to provide demographic support to northern spotted owls that
do not live on FGS lands. Within each CSA the HCP requires Fruit Growers to promote and
maintain certain general conditions and habitat features on its ownership.

70. The HCP also restricts timber harvest on FGS lands within CSAs: FGS and FWS
must ensure that northern spotted owl core areas and home ranges will meet post-harvest habitat
thresholds for nesting, roosting, and foraging habitat before Fruit Growers can harvest timber in
those areas. In many of the CSAs, FGS lands comprise only a small percentage of the land
within a northern spotted owl home range.

71. On page 5-42 the HCP states: “Upon evaluation and written concurrence by the
USFWS, exceptions may be made on a case-by-case basis for CSAs that lack the acreage or site
potential to meet this requirement.” Additionally, FGS and FWS expect high-intensity, stand-
replacing fires to occur in the Plan Area during the permit term. But if owl habitat in a CSA or
in the areas of the Klamath National Forest surrounding CSAs is diminished due to fire, the HCP
does not require the protection of replacement northern spotted owl habitat.

72. The activity centers for all or nearly all of the northern spotted owls that the FWS
expects to be preserved by the CSAs are on lands managed by the Forest Service on the Klamath
National Forest.

73. The Forest Service is not a party to the HCP. Neither the HCP nor the incidental
take permits require the Forest Service to avoid take of the northern spotted owls covered by the
CSAs. The Forest Service sometimes authorizes the logging of northern spotted owl habitat.
The Forest Service sometimes authorizes logging activities that incidentally take northern
spotted owls.

74. During the term of Fruit Growers’ incidental take permits, the Forest Service must
revise the management plan for the Klamath National Forest.

75.  Outside of the CSAs, the TCS includes two provisions related to improving
spotted owl habitat conditions across FGS’s lands.

76. First, the TCS requires Fruit Growers to manage riparian areas in accordance with

the Aquatic Species Conservation Strategy in the HCP.

COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY
AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF - 17




O© o0 NI N n B~ W =

N NN NN N N N N /= e e e e e ek e
o 9 N nm kA WD = DO O NN R WD = O

77.  Second, the TCS states that FGS will “promote forest management practices that
develop and maintain dispersal habitat across its ownership to provide connectivity between the
CSAs and nearby federal lands.” On page 5-44 the HCP states: “The stand-level and landscape-
level attributes of forests needed to facilitate successful dispersal have not been thoroughly
evaluated (Buchanan 2004) and a more complete description of dispersal habitat may be
determined in the future.” On page 7-16 the HCP states: “Because FGS will maintain a forested
landscape on its ownership, the biological objective for dispersal habitat will be met. No
compliance monitoring or additional reporting is required to document compliance with this
measure.”

78. In an effort to minimize direct take of northern spotted owls, the TCS prohibits
FGS from conducting timber operations or creating noise disturbances within 0.25 mile of active
northern spotted owl nest sites during the breeding season beginning February 1 and ending
August 31. The HCP defines the term “Active northern spotted owl nest site” as the nest tree of
a pair of nesting northern spotted owls. The TCS does not restrict direct take of northern spotted
owls that are not currently breeding. Outside of CSAs and outside the breeding season the TCS
does not restrict direct take of breeding northern spotted owls. Road use and maintenance within
0.25 mile of an active northern spotted owl nest site may occur even during the breeding season.

79. In an effort to manage known threats to northern spotted owls, the TCS requires
Fruit Growers to monitor its lands within CSAs for barred owls (Strix varia). If a barred owl is
detected on FGS lands, FGS is required to locate and monitor the barred owl and notify the FWS
within 10 days of detection. The HCP also requires FGS to facilitate implementation of barred
owl control measures deemed appropriate by FWS.

80. Fruit Growers anticipates that the majority of the authorized take of northern
spotted owls will occur within the first ten years after issuance of the incidental take permits.
FWS expects FGS to log over 18,000 acres of suitable northern spotted owl habitat in the first
ten years of implementation of the HCP. The incidental take permit allows FGS to log over
39,000 acres of suitable northern spotted owl habitat over the life of the permit.

2. The HCP’s Aquatic Species Conservation Strategy.

COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY
AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF - 18




O© o0 NI N n B~ W =

N NN NN N N N N /= e e e e e ek e
o 9 N nm kA WD = DO O NN R WD = O

81. Section 5.2 of the HCP includes an aquatic species conservation strategy (ACS)
intended to reduce logging-related impacts to SONCC coho salmon, Upper Klamath and Trinity
Rivers Chinook salmon, and Klamath Mountains Province steelhead. The ACS is intended to: 1)
limit alteration of stream hydrology; 2) preserve riparian shading; 3) maintain the recruitment of
large woody debris into streams; and 4) control sediment delivery to streams.

82.  In an effort to achieve those goals the ACS divides Fruit Growers lands into Class
A, Class B, and Class C lands. Borrowing heavily from California forestry regulations, the ACS
prescribes different limitations on logging activities for each land Class. The ACS prescriptions
address a wide variety of logging-related activities including the maintenance of riparian buffers,
logging on steep slopes, timber harvest methods, building and maintenance of stream crossings,
and road construction and maintenance.

83. “Class A” lands are those Fruit Growers’ lands that are located in its Klamath
River and Scott Valley Management Units and that currently support or historically supported
SONCC coho salmon. For Class A lands the ACS requires Fruit Growers to comply with the
State of California’s “Protection Measures in Watersheds with Coho Salmon,” 14 CCR 936.9.1,
and California’s “Measures to Facilitate Incidental Take Authorization in Watersheds with Coho
Salmon,” 14 CCR 936.9.2.

84. “Class B” lands are those Fruit Growers lands that are located in watersheds that
are within the historical range of SONCC coho salmon but that Fruit Growers concluded do not
currently support SONCC coho salmon and have little potential to do so in the future. For Class
B lands the ACS requires Fruit Growers to comply with California’s “Protection Measures in
Watersheds with Coho Salmon.”

85. Class C lands are those Fruit Growers lands that are located above long-standing
barriers to anadromous fish or that have no direct connection to streams supporting anadromous
fish. On Class C lands the ACS requires Fruit Growers to comply with current California
forestry regulations.

86. The ACS also requires Fruit Growers to comply with a Road Management Plan

on Class A and Class B lands. The Road Management Plan requires FGS to complete road
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inventories on all Class A and B lands. A road inventory evaluates the potential of a logging
road to deliver sediment to streams. The Road Management Plan requires FGS to reduce the
potential for sediment delivery to streams from some roads. The Road Management Plan does
not require FGS to reduce the actual delivery of sediment to streams from any road.

87. On five high-priority Class A lands, FGS must complete road inventories within
five years of issuance of the incidental take permits and then take steps to reduce the potential for
sediment delivery to streams from those roads by fifty percent within ten years of issuance of the
incidental take permits. On all other Class A lands FGS must complete road inventories within
ten years of issuance of the incidental take permits and then take steps to reduce the potential for
sediment delivery to streams from those roads by fifty percent within fifteen years of issuance of
the incidental take permits. On Class B lands the ACS requires Fruit Growers to inventory its
logging roads within fifteen years of issuance of the incidental take permits but does not require
Fruit Growers to take steps to reduce the potential for sediment delivery to streams from logging
roads. The Road Management Plan does not apply to Class C lands.

88. There are at least two problems with the Road Management Plan: 1) it delays road
repairs in critical watersheds until after an expected spike in logging and timber hauling; and 2)
there is no way to know whether the Road Management Plan meets or will meet ESA
requirements.

89. The Services anticipate that Fruit Growers will dramatically increase timber
harvest in the first ten years of incidental take permit coverage as compared to expected timber
harvest levels without the incidental take permits. Increased logging by Fruit Growers will result
in increased timber hauling by Fruit Growers. Increased timber hauling by Fruit Growers will
result in increased delivery of sediment to streams on or near FGS lands.

90. Rather than reducing or eliminating the potential for sediment delivery to streams
before Fruit Growers increases its logging and timber hauling, the Road Management Plan
delays potentially helpful actions until after the increase in logging and timber hauling and
resulting harm to aquatic species. Fruit Growers could have done more in the HCP to reduce

sediment delivery from logging roads to streams. Section 10 of the ESA requires Fruit Growers
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to do more in the HCP to reduce sediment delivery from logging roads to streams.

91. There is no way for NMFS to determine whether implementation of the Road
Management Plan meets or will meet ESA requirements. When NMFS issued the SONCC coho
salmon incidental take permit to Fruit Growers, it did not know how much sediment logging
roads or logging activities on Fruit Growers’ lands were delivering to streams. When NMFS
issued the SONCC coho salmon incidental take permit to Fruit Growers it did not know the
extent of harm that sediment delivered to streams from Fruit Growers’ logging roads or logging
activities was causing SONCC coho salmon.

92. The Road Management Plan requires Fruit Growers to reduce the potential for
sediment delivery to streams from logging roads on Class A lands by fifty percent. But because
NMES did not know how much sediment Fruit Growers’ logging roads or logging activities were
delivering to streams when NMFS issued the incidental take permit, NMFS will never be able to
determine whether Fruit Growers has met that obligation. Similarly, because NMFS did not
know how much harm sediment from Fruit Growers’ logging activities was causing listed fish,
NMES could not determine whether Fruit Growers’ actions would meet the requirements of the
ESA.

93. The Road Management Plan itself demonstrates the problems with NMFS’
analysis. The fact that Fruit Growers needs to inventory its roads to determine where it needs to
reduce sediment delivery demonstrates that NMFS did not know: 1) where and how Fruit
Growers was polluting streams; 2) how that sediment pollution was affecting listed fish; 3) how
much reduction in sediment delivery would be required to minimize or eliminate harm to listed
fish; or 4) how much it would cost Fruit Growers to accomplish that reduction in sediment
delivery. Without that information NMFS had no basis for concluding: 1) that the ACS
minimizes and mitigates the impacts of the taking to the maximum extent practicable; or 2) that
the ACS will avoid jeopardy to listed fish.

94. The HCP does not include a monitoring program that will measure the effects of
implementation of the Road Management Plan on SONCC coho salmon habitat. To measure the

impacts of implementation of the HCP, the HCP includes effectiveness monitoring programs to
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measure some impacts of implementation of the HCP on salmon habitat. The monitoring
programs in the HCP will not yield data that will allow Fruit Growers or NMFS to determine
whether Fruit Growers has reduced the delivery of sediment from logging roads to streams. The
fine sediment effectiveness monitoring program in the HCP, termed “channel substrate
monitoring,” requires Fruit Growers to sample some streambeds annually for five years after
issuance of the incidental take permits. But because the Road Management Plan does not require
Fruit Growers to take steps to reduce the amount of sediment delivered from logging roads to
streams until ten to fifteen years after issuance of the incidental take permits, the sediment
effectiveness monitoring program in the HCP will not measure the effects of the implementation
of the Road Management Plan on SONCC coho salmon habitat.

95.  Even if monitoring of implementation of the HCP demonstrates that changes to
the HCP are necessary to avoid jeopardy to listed aquatic species, the Services may not require
changes to the HCP based on the results of that monitoring because the Implementation
Agreement grants “No Surprises” assurances to Fruit Growers. For example, the HCP limits
temperature increases in some waters, but NMFS cannot require any management changes if
monitoring demonstrates that the temperature limits have been exceeded.

96. The HCP does not include an adaptive management program that requires Fruit
Growers to alter management of its lands in response to data about the impacts of logging on
listed species.

E. The Public Review Process and the Services’ Final Decisions Approving the

Incidental Take Permits.

97. On November 13, 2009, the Services published in the Federal Register a notice
inviting public comment on a draft environmental impact statement (“DEIS”) for Fruit Growers’
HCP, a draft HCP, and a draft implementation agreement. Multi-species Habitat Conservation
Plan, 74 Fed. Reg. 58602 (Nov. 13, 2009).

98. By letter dated February 11, 2010, Region IX of the U.S. Environmental
Protection Agency (“EPA”) submitted comments to the Services on the draft HCP and DEIS.

EPA’s comments stated that the draft HCP raised “environmental concerns” and that the analysis
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and conclusions contained in the DEIS were based on “insufficient information.” Specifically,
EPA explained that streams in the Plan Area already suffered from impaired water quality caused
by sediment pollution, and requested that the Services “quantitatively model the impacts of
project alternatives on sediment delivery.” EPA called for “road decommissioning and
maintenance, which are sediment controlling activities, to be pursued concurrent with, if not in
advance of, timber harvest and other sediment-loading activities.” EPA also noted that the draft
HCP and DEIS relied on undisclosed financial targets as part of the application for the incidental
take permits.

99. By letter dated February 11, 2010, the State of California’s North Coast Regional
Water Quality Control Board (“the Board”) submitted comments on the draft HCP and DEIS.
The Board stated that implementation of the draft HCP would cause Fruit Growers to violate the
Clean Water Act and a regional water quality control plan. The Board also noted that the draft
HCP’s Road Management Plan—Operations Guide is “unclear and ambiguous” and that it
contained 19 specific flaws, including inconsistent or deficient road maintenance timelines,
inadequate erosion control measures, and lack of regulation of road-related landslides.

100. By letter dated February 3, 2010, plaintiffs submitted comments on the DEIS,
draft HCP, and proposed implementation agreement to NMFS and the FWS. Plaintiffs’
comments raised numerous concerns with the draft HCP and DEIS, specifically including: 1)
FWS’ improper reliance on Forest Service lands for the terrestrial species conservation strategy;
2) the lack of data and analysis supporting the aquatic species conservation strategy and road
management plan; 3) deficiencies in the HCP’s monitoring programs; and 4) insufficient
cumulative effects analysis in the DEIS.

101.  On February 11, 2010, plaintiff Center for Biological Diversity submitted
additional comments focused on the failure of the DEIS and the HCP to address the impacts of
climate change over the 50-year term of the incidental take permits.

102. Hundreds of plaintiffs’ members also sent letters to the Services urging those
agencies to require greater protections for northern spotted owls and salmonids.

103.  In April 2012, FWS issued a biological opinion that analyzed some expected
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impacts of implementation of the HCP on northern spotted owls, Pacific fisher, and Yreka phlox.

104. The FWS assumed in its biological opinion that the Forest Service and private
landowners in the Klamath region would not log any suitable northern spotted owl habitat during
the 50-year term of Fruit Growers’ ITP. The FWS assumed in its biological opinion that no
suitable northern spotted owl habitat would be lost to fire, blow-down, disease, or other natural
disturbances during the 50-year term of Fruit Growers’ ITP. On page 105 of its biological
opinion the FWS states: “As part of the HCP development process, FGS worked with the Service
to produce a GIS layer that represents current northern spotted owl habitat in the Action Area
and the region.” On page 106 of its biological opinion the FWS then states: “Habitat on Federal
and private non-FGS land over the term of the ITP is represented by the owl habitat layer to
avoid speculating on the types of changes that may occur on these lands over time.”

105. Inits biological opinion, FWS concluded that implementation of the HCP is not
likely to jeopardize the continued existence of the northern spotted owl, impede that species’
recovery, or adversely modify designated critical habitat.

106. FWS included an incidental take statement in its biological opinion on issuance of]
the northern spotted owl incidental take permit to FGS. Although the FWS determined that Fruit
Growers was only likely to take 61 northern spotted owls during the permit term, the FWS’
incidental take statement authorizes the take of up to 83 northern spotted owls. The FWS
indicated “...that the take of owls will occur across the Action Area over the permit term and not
be based solely on the current activity centers.”

107. In May 2012, NMFS issued a biological opinion that analyzed some of the
expected impacts of implementation of the FGS HCP on salmonids. NMFS did not determine
how much sediment will be delivered to streams during implementation of the HCP. NMFS did
not determine how many listed fish would be adversely affected by implementation of the HCP.
NMES did not evaluate the effects to salmonids that would occur during 3-5 year time periods.

108. Instead NMFS considered environmental effects over the entire term of the HCP
before determining that habitat conditions would gradually improve during implementation of

the HCP. In doing so, NMFS relied upon its belief that Fruit Growers’ would change its logging
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activities in response to data gathered during Fruit Growers’ implementation of the monitoring
programs in the HCP. The HCP does not require Fruit Growers to monitor sediment inputs or
water quality impacts contemporaneously with its logging activities. The HCP does not require
Fruit Growers to change its logging activities in response to monitoring results. The Services’
No Surprises policy prevents NMFS from forcing Fruit Growers to change its logging activities
in response to monitoring data gathered under the HCP.

109. NMEFS concluded that the level of anticipated incidental take is not likely to
jeopardize SONCC coho salmon, Upper Klamath and Trinity Rivers Chinook salmon, or
Klamath Mountains Province steelhead.

110. At the conclusion of its biological opinion NMFS issued an incidental take
statement that described its view of the expected level of incidental take resulting from
implementation of the HCP. On page 168 of the incidental take statement NMFS stated:
“NMEFS cannot predict with any accuracy the degree to which stressors would result in exposure
that reduce the fitness levels of exposed individuals.” The incidental take statement instead used
adverse impacts to habitat as a proxy for describing the authorized amount of incidental take.

111.  On June 22, 2012, the Services published in the Federal Register a notice inviting
public comment on the Final Environmental Impact Statement for the Fruit Growers HCP
(“FEIS”), the final HCP, and the final implementation agreement. Multi-Species Habitat
Conservation Plan, 77 Fed. Reg. 37656 (June 22, 2012).

112. By letter dated August 6, 2012, on behalf of plaintiffs and other organizations, the
Washington Forest Law Center submitted to the Services comments on the FEIS, HCP,
implementation agreement, and biological opinions. Plaintiffs’ August 6, 2012 comments raised
numerous concerns under ESA Sections 7 and 10 and specifically questioned the Services’
failure to assess the impacts of increased timber harvest during the first ten years of
implementation of the HCP; the Services’ reliance on speculative and uncertain measures in the
HCP; and the Services’ failure to provide financial information that the agencies were relying
upon as part of Fruit Growers’ permit application.

113.  In November 2012, FWS and NMFS issued Records of Decision, which
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documented completion of the NEPA analysis, and made the findings required by ESA Section
10.

114.  On November 27, 2012, FWS issued Fruit Growers Supply Company an
incidental take permit for northern spotted owls.

115.  On November 28, 2012, NMFS issued Fruit Growers Supply Company an
incidental take permit for Southern Oregon/Northern California Coasts coho salmon, Upper
Klamath and Trinity Rivers Chinook salmon, and Klamath Mountains Province steelhead.

116. Issuance of the FEIS, records of decision, biological opinions, incidental take
statements, and incidental take permits, as well as the approvals of the HCP, all constitute “final
agency action” for purposes of judicial review under the APA.

VII. CLAIMS FOR RELIEF
FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF

Violation of ESA Section 10 and the Administrative Procedure Act:

FWS’s Unlawful Issuance of Incidental Take Permit

117. Plaintiffs allege and incorporate by reference all of the preceding paragraphs.

118.  Before issuing an incidental take permit, FWS must find that the expected taking
will be incidental; that the applicant will, to the maximum extent practicable, minimize and
mitigate the impacts of such taking; that the applicant has assured adequate funding for its
habitat conservation plan; and that the taking will not appreciably reduce the likelihood of the
survival and recovery of listed species in the wild. 16 U.S.C. § 1539(a)(2)(B).

119.  FWS’s Section 10 findings on issuance of the incidental take permit to Fruit
Growers Supply Company are deficient for a variety of reasons, including but not limited to the
fact that the findings: 1) lack a rational connection between the facts found and the conclusions
made and lack support in the administrative record; 2) fail to consider all of the effects of the
agency action; 3) fail to consider short-term impacts to listed terrestrial species; 4) fail to
consider impacts on a timeframe relevant to the impacted species; 5) rely on measures that are
uncertain, speculative, voluntary, or to be carried out by a third party; 6) rely on flawed

environmental analyses in the Final Environmental Impact Statement and biological opinions; 7)
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rely on financial and other information that was not disclosed to the public as required; 8) rely on|
measures already in place as mitigation for the impacts of allowed incidental take; 9) fail to
consider alternatives with greater degrees of conservation benefit; and 10) incorrectly interpret
the relevant legal standards.

120. FWS’s Section 10 findings on issuance of the incidental take permit to Fruit
Growers Supply Company are therefore arbitrary, capricious and in violation of the
Administrative Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. § 706(2), and the Endangered Species Act, 16 U.S.C. §
1539.

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF

Violation of ESA Section 7 and the Administrative Procedure Act:

FWS’s Failure to Prepare a Legally Sufficient Biological Opinion

121.  Plaintiffs allege and incorporate by reference all of the preceding paragraphs.

122.  The ESA requires the FWS to prepare a biological opinion that uses the best
scientific and commercial data available to evaluate whether issuance of an incidental take
permit is likely to jeopardize the continued existence of any endangered species or threatened
species or destroy or adversely modify designated critical habitat.

123. FWS’s biological opinion on issuance of the incidental take permit to Fruit
Growers Supply Company is deficient for a variety of reasons, including but not limited to the
fact that the biological opinion: 1) is not based on the best scientific and commercial data
available; 2) lacks critical information necessary to a rational conclusion and lacks support in the
administrative record; 3) lacks a rational connection between the facts found and the conclusions
made; 4) fails to consider all of the effects of the agency action; 5) fails to consider short-term
impacts to listed terrestrial species; 6) fails to consider impacts on a timeframe relevant to the
impacted species; and 7) relies on conservation measures that are uncertain, speculative,
voluntary, or to be carried out by a third party.

124.  The FWS’s biological opinion on issuance of the incidental take permit to Fruit
Growers Supply Company is therefore arbitrary, capricious and in violation of the

Administrative Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. § 706(2), and the Endangered Species Act, 16 U.S.C. §
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1536.

125. Because the FWS relied on a flawed biological opinion in issuing the incidental
take permit, and because the FWS relies on uncertain and voluntary mitigation to insure a lack of]
jeopardy to a listed species, FWS has also violated its substantive obligations under the
Endangered Species Act, 16 U.S.C. § 1536(a)(2).

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF

Violation of ESA Section 7 and the Administrative Procedure Act:

FWS’s Failure to Prepare a Legally Sufficient Incidental Take Statement

126. Plaintiffs allege and incorporate by reference all of the preceding paragraphs.

127.  The Endangered Species Act requires the FWS to provide an incidental take
statement that sets forth a limit on the amount of authorized take. FWS can use habitat as a
proxy to limit incidental take only if the agency explains in the incidental take statement why it
was impracticable to state a numerical limit on take and only if the habitat limit is specific
enough that the agency can determine when it must reinitiate consultation.

128. The FWS’s incidental take statement for issuance of the incidental take permit to
the Fruit Growers Supply Company is deficient for a variety of reasons, including but not limited
to the fact that the incidental take statement: 1) lacks critical information necessary to a rational
conclusion and lacks support in the administrative record; 2) lacks a rational connection between
the facts found and the conclusions made; 3) sets a take limit that is higher than the amount of
take expected from implementation of the HCP; 4) fails to specify the location of allowed take;
5) establishes a take limit that the agency is unable to accurately measure to determine whether
and when it must reinitiate consultation; and 7) relies on conservation measures that are
uncertain, speculative, voluntary, or to be carried out by a third party.

129.  FWS’s incidental take statement on issuance of the incidental take permit to Fruit
Growers Supply Company is therefore arbitrary, capricious and in violation of the
Administrative Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. § 706(2), and the Endangered Species Act, 16 U.S.C. §
1536.

FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
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Violation of ESA Section 10 and the Administrative Procedure Act:

NMFS’s Unlawful Issuance of Incidental Take Permit

130. Plaintiffs allege and incorporate by reference all of the preceding paragraphs.

131. Before issuing an incidental take permit, NMFS must find that: 1) the expected
taking will be incidental; 2) that the applicant will, to the maximum extent practicable, minimize
and mitigate the impacts of such taking; 3) that the applicant has assured adequate funding for its
habitat conservation plan; and 4) that the taking will not appreciably reduce the likelihood of the
survival and recovery of listed species in the wild. 16 U.S.C. § 1539(a)(2)(B).

132.  NMEFS Section 10 findings on issuance of the incidental take permit to Fruit
Growers Supply Company are deficient for a variety of reasons, including but not limited to the
fact that the findings: 1) lack support in the record; 2) lack a rational connection between the
facts found and the conclusions made; 3) fail to consider all of the effects of the agency action on|
each species covered by the permits; 4) fail to consider short-term impacts to listed aquatic
species; 5) fail to consider impacts on a timeframe relevant to the impacted species; 6) rely on
measures that are uncertain, speculative, or voluntary; 7) rely on flawed environmental analyses
in the Final Environmental Impact Statement and biological opinions; 8) rely on financial and
other information that was not disclosed to the public as required; and 9) incorrectly interpret the
relevant legal standards.

133, NMFS’ Section 10 findings on issuance of the incidental take permit to Fruit
Growers Supply Company are therefore arbitrary, capricious and in violation of the
Administrative Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. § 706(2), and the Endangered Species Act, 16 U.S.C. §
1539.

FIFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

Violation of ESA Section 7 and the Administrative Procedure Act:

NMFS’s Failure to Prepare A Legally Sufficient Biological Opinion

134. Plaintiffs allege and incorporate by reference all of the preceding paragraphs.
135. The ESA requires NMFS to prepare a biological opinion that uses the best

scientific and commercial data available to evaluate whether issuance of an incidental take
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permit is likely to jeopardize the continued existence of any endangered species or threatened
species or destroy or adversely modify designated critical habitat.

136. NMFS’ biological opinion on issuance of the incidental take permit to Fruit
Growers Supply Company is deficient for a variety of reasons, including but not limited to the
fact that the biological opinion: 1) is not based on the best scientific and commercial data
available; 2) lacks critical information necessary to a rational conclusion and lacks support in the
administrative record; 3) lacks a rational connection between the facts found and the conclusions
made; 4) fails to consider all of the effects of the agency action; 5) fails to consider short-term
impacts to listed aquatic species; 6) fails to consider impacts on a timeframe relevant to the
impacted species; 7) relies on measures that are uncertain, speculative, or voluntary; and 8) fails
to sufficiently analyze impacts to distinct evolutionarily significant units of salmonids.

137.  NMFS’ biological opinion on issuance of the incidental take permit to Fruit
Growers Supply Company is therefore arbitrary, capricious and in violation of the
Administrative Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. § 706(2), and the Endangered Species Act, 16 U.S.C. §
1536.

138.  Because NMFS relied on a flawed biological opinion in issuing the incidental take
permit, and because it relied on uncertain and voluntary mitigation to insure a lack of jeopardy to
a listed species, NMFS has also violated its substantive obligations under the Endangered
Species Act, 16 U.S.C. § 1536(a)(2).

SIXTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

Violation of ESA Section 7 and the Administrative Procedure Act:

NMFS’s Failure to Prepare a Legally Sufficient Incidental Take Statement

139. Plaintiffs allege and incorporate by reference all of the preceding paragraphs.

140. The Endangered Species Act requires NMFS to provide an incidental take
statement that sets forth a limit on the amount of authorized take. NMFS can use habitat as a
proxy to limit incidental take only if the agency explains in the incidental take statement why it
was impracticable to state a numerical limit on take and only if the habitat limit is specific

enough that the agency can determine whether and when it must reinitiate consultation.
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141. NMEFS incidental take statement for issuance of the incidental take permit to Fruit
Growers Supply Company is deficient for a variety of reasons, including but not limited to the
fact that it: 1) lacks critical information necessary to a rational conclusion and lacks support in
the administrative record; 2) lacks a rational connection between the facts found and the
conclusions made; 3) fails to sufficiently explain why a numerical take limit was impracticable;
4) fails to set forth a habitat surrogate with enough specificity to allow the agency to know
whether and when it must reinitiate consultation; 5) fails to specify the authorized impacts to the
differing habitats of each of the covered salmonid ESUs; 6) establishes a take limit that the
agency is unable to accurately measure to determine whether reinitiation of consultation is
required; and 7) relies on conservation measures that are uncertain, speculative, voluntary, or to
be carried out by a third party.

142.  NMFS’ incidental take statement on issuance of the incidental take permit to Fruit
Growers Supply Company is therefore arbitrary, capricious and in violation of the
Administrative Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. § 706(2), and the Endangered Species Act.

SEVENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

Violation of ESA Section 10 and the Administrative Procedure Act:

The Service’s Failure to Disclose Application Materials

143.  Plaintiffs allege and incorporate by reference all of the preceding paragraphs.

144. The Endangered Species Act requires the Services to make available to the public
at every stage of the proceeding all information received by the Services as part of an application
for an incidental take permit. 16 U.S.C. §§ 1539(a)(2)(B), (¢).

145.  FWS and NMFS violated the Endangered Species Act by failing to provide the
public with an opportunity to review and comment upon all information received by the Services
as part of Fruit Growers application for incidental take permits, including financial data and
targets that Fruit Growers provided to the Services and that the Services relied upon in their
decisions to issue incidental take permits to Fruit Growers.

146. The Services’ issuance of incidental take permits to Fruit Growers Supply

Company are therefore arbitrary, capricious and in violation of the Administrative Procedure
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Act, 5 U.S.C. § 706(2), and the Endangered Species Act, 16 U.S.C. § 1539.
EIGHTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

Violation of NEPA and the Administrative Procedure Act:

Failure to Disclose Environmental Information

and Consequences of the Proposed Action

147. Plaintiffs allege and incorporate by reference all of the preceding paragraphs.

148. NEPA requires the Services to disclose and analyze the environmental effects of
issuing incidental take permits to the Fruit Growers Supply Company before the Services issue
incidental take permits. 40 C.F.R. § 1500.1(b).

149.  The Final EIS and Record of Decision for the HCP fail to disclose key pieces of
information and thereby make an accurate assessment of the environmental consequences of the
proposed project impossible.

150. For example, the Final EIS expressly does not disclose financial information
about FGS, its harvest plans, business models, and other information that are necessary to
determine whether the minimal beneficial aspects of the HCP will be funded and implemented.

151.  The Final EIS also fails to quantify the direct, indirect, and cumulative impacts of
the HCP on natural resources, instead only conducting a comparative analysis to the status quo,
which precludes meaningful analysis of the environmental impact of the proposed action.

152.  The Services’ failure to disclose the quantitative impact of the proposed action on
the natural resources in the planning area is arbitrary, capricious and in violation of the
Administrative Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. § 706(2), and the National Environmental Policy Act.

NINTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

Violation of NEPA and the Administrative Procedure Act:

Failure to Consider the Cumulative Impacts of the Proposed Action

153.  Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all preceding paragraphs.

154. The Services are required to discuss the direct, indirect, and cumulative effects of
the proposed action on the environment. 40 C.F.R. §§ 1502.16, 1508.7, 1508.8, 1508.25(c)(3),
1508.27(b)(7).
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155.  Cumulative effects are defined as “the impact on the environment which results
from the incremental impact of the action when added to other past, present, and reasonably
foreseeable future actions regardless of what agency (Federal or non-Federal) or person
undertakes such other actions. Cumulative impacts can result from individually minor but
collectively significant actions taking place over a period of time.” 40 C.F.R. § 1508.7.

156. There are several “incidental” activities covered under the HCP that are not
analyzed in the Final EIS that are likely to have synergistic effects on the environment.

157. For example, the Services and FGS expect that “changed and unforeseen
circumstances” may occur during the 50 year life of the HCP, but those circumstances are not
discussed or analyzed in the Final EIS or Record of Decision.

158.  FGS also expects to apply herbicides to its lands and withdraw water for various
applications, but those synergistic effects — especially on salmonids — are not discussed or
analyzed in the Final EIS or Record of Decision.

159. The effects of adjacent federal timber harvest on the Klamath National Forest, as
well as other private land harvest, are not discussed or analyzed in the Final EIS or Record of
Decision.

160. The Services’ failure to discuss all the direct, indirect, and cumulative effects of
the proposed action on the environment in the planning area is arbitrary, capricious and in
violation of the Administrative Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. § 706(2), and the National
Environmental Policy Act.

VIII. PRAYER FOR RELIEF

Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court:

A. Declare that the Services’ Final Environmental Impact Statement, Records of
Decision, Biological Opinions, Incidental Take Statements, ESA Section 10 Statements of
Findings and Recommendations, and issuance of Incidental Take Permits to the Fruit Growers
Supply Company violate the Endangered Species Act, the National Environmental Policy Act,
the Administrative Procedure Act, and their implementing regulations;

B. Vacate and remand back to the Services the Final Environmental Impact
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Statement, Records of Decision, Biological Opinions, Incidental Take Statements, ESA Section
10 Statements of Findings and Recommendations, and Incidental Take Permits issued to the
Fruit Growers Supply Company;

C. Enjoin the Services and its agents from taking any action previously authorized by
the Final Environmental Impact Statement, Records of Decision, Biological Opinions, Incidental
Take Statements, ESA Section 10 Statement of Findings and Recommendations, and Incidental
Take Permits at issue in this case unless and until the violations of federal law set forth herein
have been corrected to the satisfaction of this Court;

D. Order the Services to carry out and/or require remedial relief for any harm to

species already caused by implementation of the HCP;

E. Award Plaintiffs their costs of suit and attorneys’ fees; and
F. Grant Plaintiffs such other and further relief as the Court deems just and
equitable.
Dated: August 12, 2013 Respectfully submitted,
Tim Ream
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